FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/3/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK Case #: 1034300

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
8/30/2024 4:46 PM

COA No. 85739-8-I

Supreme Court of the State of Washington

FLYING T RANCH, INC, a Washington Corporation

Petitioner,

v.

STILLAGUAMISH TRIBE OF INDIANS, a federally recognized Indian Tribe Respondent,

SNOHOMISH COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State of Washington.

Defendant.

Petition for Review

1. Identity of Petitioner

Flying T Ranch, Inc, ("Flying T") Appellant at the Court of Appeals, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review, specified below.

2. Court of Appeals Decision

The Court of Appeals decision at issue is *Flying T*Ranch, Inc., v. Stillaguamish Tribe of Indians, No.

85739-8-1, filed on 6/4/2024. Appendix A (Op. at 1).

Flying T filed a timely motion for reconsideration, which was denied by Order dated July 31, 2024. Appendix B. This Petition for Review is timely.

3. Issues Presented for Review

1. Whether the sovereign immunity of a federally recognized Indian tribe bars or is offended by the superior court's exercise of *in rem* jurisdiction (whether under the immovable property doctrine or otherwise), in an adverse possession action to quiet title to

an off-reservation land which the Tribe obtained record title, after the adverse possession title clearly ripened into original title long before Tribal or governmental acquisition when the subject lands were under private ownership?

- 2. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding the common law immovable property doctrine cannot be applied in this case absent United State's Congressional action, where this matter is a clear cut in rem adverse possession case that ripened into original title before Tribal acquisition?
- 3. Whether the trial court erred in dismissing all of Flying T's claims to quiet title under CR 19 for lack of personal jurisdiction or failure to join and indispensable party?

4. Statement of the Case

4.1 Introduction

This is a clear cut adverse possession case, made intriguing by the Tribe's purported acquisition on the open market of lands, a small part of which were long ago adversely possessed and held adversely,

exclusively, and openly ever since to date by Flying T and its predecessors.

The Court of Appeals affirmatively answered the ultimately "grave" question presented in *Upper Skagit Indian Tribe v. Lundgren*, 584 U.S. 554, 563, 138 S. Ct. 1649, 1656, 200 L.Ed.2d 931, 938 (2018)(Chief Justice Roberts, Concurrence) of whether the immovable property doctrine applies to Tribes – the answer is yes.

But the Court of Appeals erred in holding that in this particularly unique case and factual pattern an act of Congress is required to resolve a clear-cut case of adverse possession that ripened before purported Tribal acquisition.¹

¹Upper Skagit Indian Tribe v. Lundgren, 584 U.S. 554, 563, 138 S. Ct. 1649, 1656, 200 L.Ed.2d 931, 938 (2018)(Chief Justice Roberts, Concurrence)("The correct answer cannot be that the tribe wins no matter what").

The Court of Appeals should be reversed on this point, and the matter remanded to the trial court. At a minimum there is jurisdiction to least determine if the Tribe's claims to title are colorable claims of right and substantial² (they are not).

² This would not necessarily be to determine whether the Tribe is ultimately right or wrong, but whether their purported claims to title are substantially justified under established Washington adverse possession and quiet title law. See, Upper Skagit Indian Tribe v. Lundgren, 584 U.S. 554, 563, 138 S. Ct. 1649, 1656, 200 L.Ed.2d 931, 938 (2018)(Chief Justice Roberts, Concurrence); Cf. Wildman v. United States, 827 F.2d 1306, 1310 (9th Cir. 1987). Under this authority including Chief Justice Roberts framework for analyis, if there is no substantial colorable claim of right, there is subject matter jurisdiction, and the Court can quiet title against all such claims. If the Tribe has substantial claims to title under Washington law, the Tribe should be able to argue sovereign immunity below if it has not waived it. *Id; Cf. Spaeth v.* United States Secretary for the Interior, 757 F.2d 937 (8th Cir. 1985)(To be immune from suit under 28 U.S.C. §2409a(a), the United States must show a "substantial claim" that land is trust or restricted Indian lands).

4.2 The Court of Appeals Opinion.

The Court of Appeals broadly held the Tribe's "common law immunity from suit traditionally enjoyed by sovereign powers" shielded the Tribe from in rem subject matter jurisdiction over an adverse possession claim to title where Flying T gained original title to the subject lands, long before the date on the Tribe's deeds, because "the Tribe is afforded immunity equal to a foreign sovereign, it may be sued over its objection only when allowed by Congress, and to hold otherwise would unfaithfully lessen its immunity in comparison to that traditionally employed by sovereign powers." 3

Because the common law immunity is subject to
the immovable property law exception, and Congress
has not seen fit to bother itself with acting over such a
simple and straight forward claim of adverse
possession in the context of Tribal immunity, the Court
of Appeals erred in saying Congress must act first. This

³ (Op. at 1)

is a fn.8 case appropriate for the Courts. *Michigan v. Bay Mills Indian Community*, 572 U.S. 782, 799 n.8, 134 S. Ct. 2024 188 L. Ed. 2d 1071 (2014); *See,*,, (Chief Justice Roberts, Concurrence) *Upper Skagit Indian Tribe v. Lundgren*, 584 U.S. 554, 563138 S. Ct. 1649, 1656200 L.Ed.2d 931, 938 (2018)

4.3 The Court of Appeals Determined the Grave Broadly Important Question Correctly That The Immovable Property Exception Properly Applies to Tribes, But Erred In Deferring To Congress In This Straightforward Adverse Possession Case.

Under the Court of Appeal's Decision, the immovable property doctrine applies to Tribes acquiring off-reservation land in fee, but incorrectly applied the doctrine in this narrow and clear cut case that is properly exercisable in the province of the Courts, not Congress exclusively.

The Court of Appeals was correct to recognize the Stillaguamish Tribe's sovereign immunity to be no greater than that of foreign nations. (Op. at 1). The

Court of Appeals was correct to recognize that on the "grave" question identified by the United States
Supreme Court in *Upper Skagit v. Lundgren*, the immovable property doctrine as to sovereign immunity of such foreign nations at common law enjoyed no immunity for immovable property (Op. at 17).⁴ The Court of Appeals was correct in concluding the exception should apply to Tribes generally on lands acquired in fee outside of Indian lands on the open market, but the Court of Appeals erred in holding that in *all* such cases, particularly the "mundane" *in rem* adverse possession case as this one before it, only

⁴ Citing Restatement (Second) of the Foreign Relations Law of the United States §77(4)(Am. L. Inst. 1965)) and Permanent Mission of India to the United Nations v. City of New York, 551 U.S. 193, 200, 127 S. Ct. 2352, 168 L. Ed. 2d 85 (2007)(quoting Asociacion de Reclamantes v. United Mexican States, 735 F.2d 1517, 1521 (D.C. Cir. 1984); (See also Op. 13).

 ⁵ Upper Skagit Indian Tribe v. Lundgren, 584 U.S. 554,
 563, 138 S. Ct. 1649, 1656, 200 L.Ed.2d 931, 938
 (2018)(Chief Justice Roberts, Concurrence)

mighty Congress can act or should act to resolve it. (Op. at 1);(Op. at 17).

While correctly recognizing 'primeval' interest of the State of Washington in determining title to its land (Op. at 19·20), the Court of Appeals erred in punting to the United States Congress requiring Congress to act further on such a title dispute, where under *stare decisis* in clear cut adverse possession property cases, the *holdings* of cases on which persons have relied, have not been expressly over ruled and are not inconsistent with the immovable property doctrine exception.⁶

In short, because this case is a straight forward in rem real property adverse possession case likely

⁶ Gorman v. City of Woodinville, 175 Wn.2d 68, 72, 283 P.3d 1082, 1083 (2012); Smale v. Noretep, 150 Wn. App. 476, 483, 208 P.3d 1180, 1184 (2009)(pointing out "two crucial" bases for jurisdiction: in rem and prior ripened adverse possession has no "potential to deprive any party of land they rightfully own.").

winnable on summary judgment on the merits dealing with local title issues within the State of Washington, the United States Congress need not be bothered or troubled further – unless it elects to do so.

A ruling finding subject matter jurisdiction and ruling in Flying T's favor on this unique clear cut in rem adverse possession case does not open the Superior Court doors to "any claimant, at any time" pertaining to immovable property a Tribe may acquire on the open market. Rather there is no offense to tribal sovereign immunity because of the deeds are completely ineffective to convey actual ownership and title in this unique adverse possession case, and a court clearing title in an in rem case such as this is a straight forward

⁷ (Op. at 20).

but societally important remedy supported by *stare*decisis and best left in the courts.8

Finally, the Court of Appeals erred in not contending with CR 19 and in rem issues, even independent of the immovable property doctrine. Even if the immovable property doctrine does not apply (due to failure of Congress to act or otherwise), the Supreme Court in *Upper Skagit* left open the door that such a "mundane" and straight forward case as this (on the merits) is still subject to the jurisdiction of the courts.⁹

⁸ See, Upper Skagit Indian Tribe v. Lundgren, 584 U.S.
554, 563, 138 S. Ct. 1649, 1656, 200 L.Ed.2d 931, 938
(2018)(Chief Justice Roberts, Concurrence)

⁹ "The correct answer cannot be that the tribe always wins no matter what." *Upper Skagit Indian Tribe v. Lundgren*, 584 U.S. 554, 563, 138 S. Ct. 1649, 1656, 200 L.Ed.2d 931, 938 (2018)(Chief Justice Roberts, Concurrence)(outlining a framework for analysis).

5. Argument

A petition for review is properly accepted when the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals, or if the case involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b).

5.1 The Court of Appeals erred in not following the controlling holdings and independent rationale of *Lundgren, Anderson,* or *Smale* regarding in rem or unique adverse possession law jurisdiction under stare decisis in this real property case.

In cases and controversy involving property rights, concerns of *stare decisis* are "at their acme." *State Oil Co. v. Khan*, 522 U.S. 3, 20, 118 S. Ct. 275, 139 L. Ed. 2d 199 (1997). Holdings should be upheld and followed, if supported by alternative rationale, and not discarded, under principles of *stare decisis* and due process, particularly in the real property context. *See, Id.*

Being part of Flying T's predecessor's holdings and possession by open and notorious, actual and uninterrupted, exclusive, and hostile use under a claim of right since the early 1960s, the adverse possession statute of limitations ran by no later than 1972¹⁰ while the subject lands were privately owned¹¹, putting true "original title"¹² into Flying T's predecessors as a matter of law, without the need for filing suit to perfect.¹³ This is a unique area of property law.

Adverse possession law is unique – once the elements thereof have ran, original title vests without

¹⁰ (CP 47-48)(Decl. Eugene Lane);(CP 49-50)(Decl. Tammy Blakey); (CP 25) (facts most favorable to Flying T);(CP 58).

¹¹ (CP 58); (CP 47-58).

¹² See *El Cerrito, Inc. v. Ryndak*, 60 Wn.2d 847, 855, 376 P.2d 528 (1962)(owner gains "original title" upon adverse possession elements running automatically); (CP 28).

¹³ Gorman v. City of Woodinville, 175 Wn.2d 68, 73-75,
283 P.3d 1082 (2012)(citing Halverson v. City of Bellevue, 41 Wn. App. 457, 460, 704 P.2d 1232 (1985))

the need for a court action, and a government accepting a deed to such land gains nothing thereby. See e.g., Gorman v. City of Woodinville, 175 Wn.2d 68, 73-75 283 P.3d 1082 (2012). The doctrine is based in statutory and common law. 175 Wn.2d at 76-81, Madsen, Concurring. As recognized by the Court of Appeals here, that the doctrine equally applies against a sovereign, including a Tribe, prior to its acquisition is not inconsistent with the immovable property doctrine. See, (Op. at 13, 17)(but indicating Congress should authorize in the first instance).

The immovable property doctrine is also now the applicable common law as recognized by the Court of Appeals Decision here (rather than *Yakima* in rem). Washington Courts have repeatedly upheld jurisdiction to determine clear cut adverse possession title cases (though not expressly naming the "immovable property doctrine" as the basis for federal authority) involving Tribes on non-reservation fee land, and Congress has

not seen it fit to bother to intervene. See, Smale v. Noretep, 150 Wn. App. 476, 208 P.3d 1180 (2009); Lundgren v. Upper Skagit Indian Tribe, 187 Wn.2d 857, 868, 389 P.3d 569, 574 (2017); Cf. Anderson & Middleton Lumber Co., v. Quinault Indian Nation, 130 Wn.2d 862, 869-72, 929 P.2d 379 (1996)(an in rem, but not an "adverse possession" case per se)(the core holding and result of Anderson is still good property law and must be followed until properly overruled under reasoned stare decisis principles, though its rationale and reliance on Yakima is now questionable).

The Court of Appeals in *Smale v. Noretep*, 150 Wn. App. 476, 483, 208 P.3d 1180, 1184 (2009) pointed out two crucial bases for jurisdiction: in rem <u>and</u> that prior ripened adverse possession has no "potential to deprive any party of land they rightfully own." The present decision conflicts with *Smale's* recognition that subject matter jurisdiction came from two independent sources – adverse possession law, and *Yakima* in rem.

These "two crucial" independent bases were approved in Lundgren v. Upper Skagit Indian Tribe, 187 Wn.2d 857, 868, 389 P.3d 569, 574 (2017) vacated and remanded on the other grounds by Upper Skagit Indian Tribe v. Lundgren, 584 U.S. 554, 557, 138 S. Ct. 1649, 1652, 200 L.Ed.2d 931, 934 (2018).

The Washington Supreme Court in Lundgren, stated: "If [the allegations that adverse possessor ripened title before purported Tribal acquisition] were true, the Stillaguamish Tribe never possessed the land and thus never had land to lose. Nor were the [owners] attempting to adversely possess against a sovereign." Lundgren, 187 Wn.2d at 868. This was just one of "two crucial" reasons for exercising subject matter jurisdiction, the other being in rem under Anderson and Yakima. Id. Accordingly, Smale and its independent rationale approved by Lundgren, is binding and controlling law on the Court of Appeals, and the Court of Appeals erred in not following Smale.

Moreover, the United States Supreme Court did accept review of Washington's decisions in this arena and limited its ruling to removing *Yakima* as authority, but did not direct the parties to Congress, nor did it disapprove of this unique feature of "adverse possession" being left to the Courts.

In summary, the Court of Appeals erred in not following the holdings of *Gorman, Smale,* and even *Anderson & Middleton Lumber Co. v. Quinault Indian Nation,* 130 Wn.2d 862, 929 P.2d 379 (1996), and the highly persuasive independent rationale of *Lundgren v. Upper Skagit Indian Tribe,* 187 Wn.2d 857, 389 P.3d 569 (2017) that the Tribe acquired no title in the first instance¹⁴, vacated and remanded on other grounds by

This is the untrammeled rationale independent of *County of Yakima's* in rem basis, and is a rationale unique to real property adverse possession law: the Washington Supreme Court noted and approved that *Smale*, 150 Wn. App. at 483 based its decision *both* on in rem grounds, <u>and</u> that the proceeding in any event had

Upper Skagit Indian Tribe v. Lundgren, 584 U.S. 554, 557, 138 S. Ct. 1649, 1652, 200 L.Ed.2d 931, 934 (2018). The Court of Appeals here did not otherwise providing detailed *stare decisis* rationale for departing from the holdings and results in these property law cases, rather side stepped them saying Flying T did not argue they were not controlling. (Op. at 7)15.

Under property law principles of *stare decisis*,

Gorman, Smale, Anderson, and independent¹⁶ in rem

no "potential to deprive any party of land they rightfully own" under unique well settled adverse possession law principles. *Lundgren*, 187 Wn.2d at 868 (For lands acquired by adverse possession *before* sovereign acquisition, "the Stillaguamish Tribe never possessed the land and thus never had land to lose.")

¹⁵ Flying T argued these cases were controlling (Br. of Appellant at 30 - 38).

¹⁶ Note even the Tribe in their briefing below does not say *Smale* relied *exclusively* on *Yakima*. *Smale* is binding and controlling, and was not overruled under stare decisis.

rationale of *Lundgren* are "controlling"¹⁷ or highly persuasive¹⁸ law because they present, in a very narrow context, the basic point and norms that even maximum sovereignty (Tribal or otherwise) is not even implicated (i.e. the full extent of the immovable property exception need not be fully explored), where the action is to merely "clarify what already exists," in that the government (or Tribe) has no substantial claim to the land under any plausible theory given the adverse possession ripened against private landowners well before their purported acquisition (either as a matter of law or where there is not a genuine issue of material fact.) *Lundgren*, 187 Wn.2d at 868; . *Smale*, 150 Wn. App. at 483

¹⁷ Flying T takes issue with the Court of Appeals stating Flying T "does not argue they are controlling." (Op. at 7).

¹⁸ As to *Lundgren*. Lundgren was only vacated and remanded on the basis of its reliance *Yakima*, on of two bases.

There is at least subject matter jurisdiction for Flying T to see if the Tribe's claims are "substantial" – as they would be entitled to that even as against the United States.

Accordingly, the Court of Appeals is mistaken that Flying T did not argue *Smale* and *Anderson* are controlling with respect to unique in rem real property cases, such as adverse possession. (Br. of Appellant at 30 - 38).

5.2 The Court of Appeals decision announces a rationale about adverse possession against the United States for its position that is not accurate, or presented on the actual facts and allegations.

The Court of Appeals ¹⁹ states: "Under the Quiet Title Act, the United States allows some title claims to be brought against it, but it does not permit title to be determined against it 'based upon adverse possession.' 28 U.S.C. § 2409a(n). If the United States had acquired

¹⁹ No one fully briefed this matter below.

the land neighboring Flying T's parcel—instead of using its funds to support the Tribe to do so—Flying T would be limited to the remedies traditionally available in the absence of a waiver of sovereign immunity." (Op. at 29.)

This statement of the law appears to be at odds with cases under 28 U.S.C. §2409a(n), cases that are consistent with *Gorman. See, e.g., Burlison v. United States*, 533 F.3d 419, 428 (6th Cir. 2008)("[A]dverse possession claims against the United States that ripened before the government acquired title to the lands in question are not barred by 28 USC §2409a(n))(citing three district court level cases).

5.3 This case involves issues of substantial public interest that should be decided by this Court.

In *Upper Skagit*, the United States Supreme

Court said the questions presented in this Appeal
should be addressed by the lower Courts in a
systematic manner. This case, therefore, without more,

is of substantial public interest that is should be decided by the Washington Supreme Court.

Contrary to the Court of Appeals decision in this case, each and every Justice on the United States

Supreme Court recognized or clearly signaled in *Upper Skagit v. Lundgren* that *the courts* rather than

Congress, should also decide a simple straight forward case of adverse possession related to title to property purportedly acquired by an Indian Tribe on the open market, that is not trust or reservation land, with a landowner that did not voluntarily seek to do business with a Tribe. Rather a landowner that clearly adversely possessed the property long ago, with no other judicial remedy.

The United States Supreme Court could simply have ruled that these issues are not for the Courts, but only for Congress, in *Upper Skagit v. Lundgren*, but they did not do so. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals decision punting the issues to Congress to flesh out in a

narrow case such as this, is at odds with the Supreme Court's guidance, and also specifically at odds with Chief Justice Roberts framework for analysis of the "mundane" (if not unique) adverse possession case.

The undisputed and clear facts of this case (and particularly on its procedural posture) raise circumstances best left to the judicial branches to decide in careful reasoned application or development of the law – <u>not</u> necessarily a new or special act of *Congress.*

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