FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/27/2024 1:53 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 1034300

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FLYING T RANCH,

Petitioner,

V.

STILLAGUAMISH TRIBE OF INDIANS, et al.

Respondents,

Respondent's Answer to Petition for Review

Raven Arroway-Healing WSBA #42373 Attorney for Respondent

Stillaguamish Tribe of Indians 3322 236th St NE Arlington, WA 98223 (360) 572-3074 rhealing@stillaguamish.com

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

3. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

3.1 <u>The Court of Appeals properly held that there is no</u> <u>immovable property exception to tribal sovereign</u> <u>immunity.</u>

The foundation of Flying T's request for review is a disingenuous claim that the Court of Appeals held there was an immovable property exception to tribal sovereign immunity. The Court of Appeals held no such thing. Instead, it determined that no immovable property exception was ever consistently applied by American courts to foreign sovereigns prior to the enactment of the *Foreign Sovereign Immunities Act*, 28 U.S.C. § 1602–1611 ("FSIA"), and therefore no common law immovable

property exception exists for courts to apply to tribes. Op. at 1.

This correct application of the law does not warrant review.

In response to Flying T's argument that there is an immovable property exception to tribal and foreign sovereign immunity, the Court of Appeals said:

We conclude a foreign sovereign enjoys immunity as directed by the political branches of government and would not face process directed by the judiciary alone. When the Tribe is afforded immunity equal to a foreign sovereign, it can be sued over its objection only when allowed by Congress, and to hold otherwise would unfaithfully lessen its immunity in comparison to that enjoyed by sovereign powers.

Op. at 1. The Court of Appeals quoted the *Restatement (Second)* as saying that the "immunity of a foreign sovereign...does not extend to...immovable property..." but then noted that "no such rule was followed to the exclusion of the political branches." Op. at 17. The Court of Appeals found that the "baseline rule of deferring the question of immunity to a political branch of the national government parallels the immunity foreign sovereigns have been granted in American courts." Op. at 24. Therefore,

there is no foundation whatsoever to assert the court held that the immovable property exception applies to tribes.

There is a wall of authority that supports the Court of Appeals decision agreeing that tribes have sovereign immunity. Tribal sovereign immunity is a matter of federal law, to which state courts are bound, and is "not subject to diminution by the States." Kiowa Tribe of Okla. v. Manufacturing Technologies, Inc., 118 S.Ct. 1700, 140 L.Ed.2d 981, 523 U.S. 751 (1998). Tribes continue to enjoy the original right of common law immunity from suit. Santa Clara Pueblo v. Martinez, 98 S. Ct. 1670, 56 L.Ed.2d 106, 436 U.S. 49 at 58 (1978). The effect of tribal sovereign immunity is that it strips the court of subject matter jurisdiction. Lewis v. Norton, 424 F.3d 959, 961 (9th Cir. 2005). There are only two ways tribal immunity can be overcome. First, Congress has plenary power under the United States Constitution to statutorily authorize a waiver of tribal sovereign immunity. Santa Clara, supra at 58. Second, an Indian tribe may waive its own sovereign immunity. Id. Any waiver of

sovereign immunity "cannot be implied, but must be unequivocally expressed." *Id*.

The United States Supreme Court's rulings already unequivocally bar the courts from carving out any judicial exception to tribal sovereign immunity, as that power is reserved exclusively to Congress. United States Constitution, Art I, Sec. 8, Clause 3. In *Bay Mills*, the United States Supreme Court held "we have time and again treated the 'doctrine of tribal immunity [as] settled law' and dismissed any suit against a tribe absent congressional authorization (or a waiver)." Michigan v. Bay Mills Indian Community, 572 U.S. 782, 134 S.Ct. 2024, 2030-2031, 188 L.Ed.2d 1071 (2014). The United States Supreme Court has also "thought it improper suddenly to start carving out exceptions to that immunity. opting instead to defer to the plenary power of Congress to define and otherwise abrogate tribal sovereign immunity from suit." Oneida Indian Nation v. Phillips, 360 F.Supp.3d 122 (2nd Cir. 2018); Michigan v. Bay Mills, supra at 2030-2032.

In determining the extent of common law immunity of tribes, the common law that is applicable is the common law of the sovereign providing the forum. In re. Green, 980 F.2d 590, 593-4 (9th Cir. 1992). This is the fatal flaw of Flying T's position that there is a common law exception to tribal sovereign immunity for immovable property. Flying T put forth letters about the practice of foreign nations² and secondary sources about international law practice among foreign nations³, while ignoring that the actual practice of American courts was deference to the political branches. The Court of Appeals recognized that "it became the practice of American courts to defer to the political branches." Op. at 12. The Court of Appeals noted that American courts never followed an immovable

² The "Tate Letter" analyzed the common practice in foreign nations. including Czechoslovakia. Estonia, Poland, Brazil. Chile, China. Hungary. Japan, Luxembourg. Norway. Portugal, the Netherlands, Sweden, Argentina, Germany, Belgium, Italy. Egypt, Switzerland, France, Austria, Greece. Romania, Peru, Denmark, the United Kingdom, and the Soviet Union. Letter from Jack B. Tate, Acting Legal Advisor, Department of State, to Acting Attorney General, Philip B. Perlman (May 19, 1952), reprinted in 26 Dep't St. Bull. 984, 985 (1952)

³ The *Restatement (Second)* Reporter's Notes on the inapplicabily of immunity to proceedings involving interests in real property include cases from courts in Chile, Austria. Czechoslovakia. France, and Germany. **Restatement (Second) of the Law - The Foreign Relations Law of the United States § 68** (Am. L. Inst. 1965).

property rule to the exclusion of the direction of political branches and when Congress passed the FSIA, the former practice of courts looking to executive suggestion gave way to courts following the directive of Congress when it comes to foreign sovereigns. Op. at 17-18.

Flying T's attempt to establish a common law immovable property exception also failed because Flying T repeatedly cited cases about sovereigns whose immunity had been waived either through an Act of Congress (FSIA) or through consent (states mutually waiving immunity in the Constitutional Convention) and then took a misguided leap to try to apply these cases to a tribe whose immunity remained intact. Op. at 19, 23. The Court of Appeals was correct to note the obvious difference between sovereigns whose immunity had been waived, and those whose immunity had not been waived.

3.2 <u>The Court of Appeals properly determined that</u> <u>Lundgren, Anderson, and Smale are no longer good</u> <u>law.</u>

Sovereign immunity is a matter of subject matter jurisdiction. *FDIC v. Meyer*, 510 U.S. 471, 475, 114 S. Ct. 996, 127 L.Ed.2d 308 (1996). Subject matter jurisdiction is "power of the court to rule on the conduct of persons or the status of things."

Bryan A. Garner, Black's Law Dictionary 12th Edition (2024). Therefore, sovereign immunity is a matter of the power of the court to rule, both *in rem* and *in personam*. The only Washington State cases that have ever determined there was an *in rem* exception to tribal sovereign immunity did so based on a misreading of *Yakima*. "That was an error," as the United States Supreme Court recently held. *Lundgren, supra* at 1652.

The first case in Washington to determine that tribal sovereign immunity does not bar a court from exercising *in rem* jurisdiction relied exclusively on "the language of the GAA⁴ and the United States Supreme Court's decision in *County of Yakima v. Yakima Indian Nation*" to do so. *Anderson & Middleton Lumber Co. v. Quinault Indian Nation*, 130 Wn.2d

⁴ General Allotment Act, 25 U.S.C. Ch. 9

862, 871, 929 P.2d 379 (1996).⁵ In Anderson, the court held a "broad statutory grant of in rem state jurisdiction over fee patented lands can be concluded from the Supreme Court decision in *County of Yakima*." Anderson, supra at 875. Every subsequent case in Washington finding an exception to the bedrock principles of federal Indian law cited the Anderson case or used the same flawed reasoning. See, e.g., Smale v. Nortep, 150 Wn.App. 476, 478, 208 P.3d 1180 (2009) (stating "...Anderson... essentially controls this case."⁶); Lundgren v. Upper Skagit Indian Tribe, 187 Wn.2d 857, 865-868, 389 P.3d 569 (2017) (hereinafter "Upper Skagit") (stating "Yakima, Anderson, and Smale establish the principle that our superior courts have subject matter jurisdiction over *in rem* proceedings in certain situations where claims of sovereign immunity are asserted.")

⁵ As discussed later, the *Anderson* court did not determine that prior ripened adverse possession was a separate and distinct basis for overcoming tribal sovereign immunity. ⁶ Flying T makes much of the Tribe admitting that *Smale* didn't rely exclusively on *Yakima*. Pet. for Rev. at 17 (n. 16). The Tribe has always noted *Smale* relies on *Anderson*, which relied exclusively on *Yakima* making both cases no longer good law.

The Court of Appeals considered whether Anderson, Smale, or Upper Skagit were controlling, and properly determined that they are not because they are no longer good law. Op. at 6-7.7 Nevertheless, Flying T argues that the cases effectively overruled by the United States Supreme Court should still be followed due to stare decisis. Pet. for Rev. at 11. Stare decisis is "not an exorable command," particularly when governing decisions are "badly reasoned." State Oil Co. v. *Khan*, 522 U.S. 3, 20, 118 S.Ct. 275, 139 L.Ed.2d 199 (1997) (quoting Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808, 111 S.Ct. 2597, 115 L.Ed.2d 640 (1991)); *Payne*, supra at 827-8. Moreover, courts are "bound by decisions" unless a "Supreme Court decision, or subsequent legislation undermines those decisions." Baker v.

⁷ Flying T takes issue with the Court of Appeals stating that Flying T did not argue these cases were controlling. Pet. for Rev. 18 (n. 17). Flying T previously conceded it had not made the argument these cases were controlling in its appellate brief. Motion for Reconsideration, at 7-8 ("Flying T presented *Anderson* and *Smale* not as binding but as persuasive"). Flying T now disingenuously claims it did present the cases as binding in initial briefing. Pet. for Rev. at 17 (n. 15). In reality, Flying T only raised this argument in a responsive pleading to Amicus Sauk-Suiattle Tribe. Ans. to Am. Br. of Sauk-Suiattle at 6-7. The Court of Appeals need not consider arguments raised for the first time in responsive pleadings. See, e.g., *State v. Hudson*, 124 Wn.2d 107, 120, 874 P.2d 160 (1994). The Court of Appeals analyzed whether these cases were controlling nonetheless, making this entire line of argument moot. Op. at 6-7.

Delta Air Lines, Inc., 6 F.3d 632, 637 (9th Cir. 1993) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted). *Stare decisis* simply does not apply to cases whose reasoning the United States Supreme Court has clearly disavowed. It would turn discretionary review on its head for this Court to accept review because an Appellate Court correctly refused to follow overruled cases that are no longer good law. **RAP 13.4(b) (1) & (2)**.

3.3 *Flying T's new arguments should not be heard.*

Flying T's new arguments, not presented to the Appellate Court, should not be considered for review. The first new argument is that prior ripened adverse possession is in itself an exception to sovereign immunity. Pet. for Rev. at 14-18.

At the Court of Appeals, Flying T first mentioned prior ripened adverse possession in its answer to an amicus brief; at the time, Flying T did not present it as an exception to sovereign immunity, but rather in discussion about adverse possession law. Ans. to Am. Br. of Sauk-Suiattle at 13. Under

RAP 10.2, the Tribe was unable to reply to this new argument raised for the first time in a responsive pleading. Washington courts have cited RAP 10.3(f) for the proposition that arguments raised for the first time in a reply brief will not be considered because it would unfairly deprive the respondent of an opportunity to respond, and presents the appellate court with an issue that has not been fully developed. *See, e.g., State v. Hudson*, 124 Wn.2d 107, 120, 874 P.2d 160 (1994).

Flying T's second new argument is that "[t]his is a fn. 8" case. Pet. for Rev. at 5-6. This argument exists nowhere in the record.

An argument not preserved below or not properly raised in the Court of Appeals is not properly before the higher court. *Delta Air Lines, Inc. v. August,* 450 U.S. 346, 362, 101 S.Ct. 1146, 67 L.Ed.2d 287 (1981); *see also Spokane v. Rothwell,* 166 Wn.2d 872, 881, 215 P.3d 162 (2009) (n.9). Flying T's new arguments should not be entertained and do not provide any basis for review.

3.4 <u>There is no alternative basis for an exception to</u> <u>sovereign immunity relating to prior ripened</u> <u>adverse possession.</u>

In order to try to craft a new alternative exception to tribal sovereign immunity, Flying T argues that prior ripened adverse possession has no potential to deprive the Tribe of property and, therefore, sovereign immunity cannot strip the court of subject matter jurisdiction. Pet. for Rev. at 14-18, 20. Flying T argues this is so because: (1) that reasoning in cases regarding state or federal immunity in adverse possession cases should be extended to tribes; and (2) that *Smale* and *Upper Skagit* contain an alternative basis for jurisdiction that does not rely on a misinterpretation of *Yakima*. Both arguments are incorrect.

Reasoning in cases regarding state or federal immunity in adverse possession cases cannot and should not be extended to tribes because the situational context is wildly different. States and the federal government have made the sovereign decision to waive their immunity in these cases, while the Tribe has not.

The cases cited are not analyzing the bounds of common law sovereign immunity when it has not been waived, but rather the bounds of specific legislative *exceptions* to express waivers of sovereign immunity. These are apples and oranges.

Washington State waived its immunity in RCW 4.92.010.⁸ The legislature also limited this waiver, stating "no claim of right predicated on the lapse of time shall ever be asserted against the state." **RCW 4.16.160**. The legislative purpose of this bar on tolling is to protect the sovereign from losing title due to the failure of public servants to monitor the property. *Gorman v. City of Woodinville*, 175 Wn.2d 68, 74, 283 P.3d 1082 (2012). Flying T's reliance on dicta about prior ripened adverse possession in *Gorman* to articulate a new exception to common law sovereign immunity is misplaced because *Gorman* was not about the limits of common law sovereign immunity. Instead, *Gorman* narrowly interpreted

⁸ "Any person ...having any claim against the state of Washington shall have a right of action against the state..." **RCW 4.92.010**.

whether RCW 4.16.130's exception to the State's general waiver of sovereign immunity applied when the adverse possession ripened prior to the sovereign acquiring the land. *Gorman supra* at 72.

Similarly, the federal government waived its immunity in passing the Quiet Title Act ("QTA"), but also enacted a bar on suits based on adverse possession. 28 U.S.C. § 2409a(n). Federal courts interpret this bar on adverse possession to be based on the rule that no title to public lands can be gained through the federal employee's failure to monitor the property, and therefore the time necessary to claim adverse possession cannot toll on federally held lands. See, U.S. v. Pappas, 814 F.2d 1342, 1343 (n. 3) (9th Cir. 1987). So when the Sixth Circuit said "[a]dverse possession claims against the United States that ripened before the government acquired title are not barred by 28 U.S.C. § 2409a(n)", they were correct, but it is irrelevant to the instant case because the tribe is not subject to

QTA's waiver, nor its limitations. *Burlison v. United States*, 533 F.3d 419, 428 (6th Cir. 2008).

Unlike the city in *Gorman* and the federal government in *Burlison*, the Stillaguamish Tribe has not waived its immunity at all, nor has it adopted any exception to a waiver based on the tolling of adverse possession. To extend the reasoning in these cases to the Tribe would be a manifest injustice.

Flying T's reliance on dicta in *Smale* and *Upper Skagit* is similarly misplaced. In *Smale*, one of the Tribe's alternative arguments was that there can be no adverse claims against a sovereign, citing *In re Yakima River Drainage Basin*. *Smale*, *supra* at 483, 484 (n. 30). The rule articulated in the *In re Yakima River Drainage*, was first articulated in *State v. City of Seattle* where the Washington State Supreme Court stated "the general statute of limitations… did not have the effect of enabling property rights to be acquired in adverse use or possession in land held by the state for such public purpose" and "a party cannot *acquire title by adverse possession* to

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